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THE LIBRARY OF EMPEROR TEWODROS II
AT MAQDALA (MAGDALA)

By Rita PANKHURST

The Emperor Tewodros II (1855-68), although remembered to-day mainly
as an energetic modernizer, was also involved to a significant degree in the
history of traditional Ethiopian libraries.

Tewodros had intended to build a great church dedicated to Mddhane Alim
‘Saviour of the World’, on Christian ground near the natural fortress of
Miqdéla which had served him as state prison, granary, and family sanctuary
no less than as a storehouse for his accumulated treasures.

Within the precincts of the fortress, which was not considered Christian
ground, the only church was the modest one also dedicated to the Saviour and
described by the geographer, C. R. Markham, as ‘ a wretched place, without
pictures or even whitewashed walls ’,* and by Major H. A. Leveson, a British
officer and journalist, as ¢ the hovel called a Church ’.2

The Emperor wished to provide the new church with the traditional service-
books and other manuscripts which turned important churches into centres of
study as well as of worship. To this end he had for years been collecting manu-
scripts from churches throughout his domains, and especially from Gondar.

The missionary T. Waldmeier reports, of one of Tewodros’s expeditions
against the city in December 1866 : ‘ The royal army fell with great rapacity
upon the unhappy city . . . houses were plundered, hidden treasures sought out
and stolen, churches robbed of their holy relics, their prayer-books, their other
old documents . . . and afterwards set on fire .3

Dr. Gerhard Rohlfs, a German scholar who visited Gondar in 1881, relates
that, in the course of Tewodros’s two sackings of the city, he carried away all
books he could seize. ¢ Of the many books mentioned, for example, by Combes
and Tamisier, none could be procured other than those of a religious nature.
Certainly this was not due to ill will : I was on very good terms with the Kantiba
and the whole clergy, and they sold me church objects. But whenever I asked
for books they always answered :  Theodore took them all away . It was the
same in Matraha.’4

1 C. R. Markham, A history of the Abyssinian expedition, London, 1869, 357-8. A photograph
of the church is reproduced in F. Myatt, The march to Magdala, London, 1970, between pp. 144
and 145. The original photograph is in the Army Museums Ogilby Trust, War Office, London.
One of Tewodros’s chroniclers, Aliqa Wildd Maryam, mentions that the Emperor reopened two
churches at Miqdila, the second being Egzetnd Maryam. Vide C. Mondon-Vidailhet (ed.),
Chronique de Théodoros 11, roi des rois d’ Ethiopie, Paris, [1905?], translation, 22. The latter church
does not appear to have been in use in 1868.

2 Illustrated London News, 30 May 1868 ; wvide also H. Blanc, 4 narrative of captivity in
Abyssinia, London, 1868, 210.

3 T. Waldmeier, Erlebnisse in den Jahren 1858-1868, Basel, 1869, 59.

4 (. Rohlfs, Meine Mission nach Abessinien, Leipzig, 1883, 256-7.
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16 RITA PANKHURST

According to the chronicle of the Emperor written by Aliqa Waldd Maryam,
Tewodros had decided to make Dabra Tabor  a new Gondar ’; he had removed
981 manuscripts from Gondar itself before setting fire to its churches. Later
the chronicle records that these manuscripts and other treasures were taken
from Débra Tabor to Méqdéila which had been proclaimed the seat of the royal
treasury.®

The precise manner in which the manuscripts were kept is not known but
it is clear from an account of one of Tewodros’s prisoners, the English surgeon
Henry Blanc, that there was no disorder : ‘ Since about a year before his death
Theodore had been gradually accumulating at Médqdéla the few remnants of
his former wealth. Some sheds contained muskets, pistols ete. ; others books
and paper . . .. Once or twice a week the chiefs would meet in consultation in a
small house erected for that purpose in the magazine inclosure to discuss public
affairs, but, above all, to assure themselves by personal inspection that the
“ treasures *’ entrusted to their care were in perfect order and in safe keeping ’.®

When, on Easter Monday, 13 April 1868, the British and Indian troops
stormed Miqdédla to liberate Tewodros’s prisoners, bringing to a climax the
Emperor’s long-drawn-out dispute with the British Government, they found the
manuscripts piled up in huts near the church. ° The treasury ’, wrote Markham
¢ consisted of a small number of huts surrounded by a wall, and was the receptacle
of all the property and plunder collected by the King. Here were ecclesiastical
crowns . . . besides tons of Geez and Amharic manuscript books. "7

H. M. Stanley, special correspondent of the New York Herald who was on
the mountain shortly after the capture, refers to the treasury as being stored
in  treasure-tents ’.®

The capture of the citadel was followed by an evening of looting, ‘ in the
best traditions of the British Army at the time’, as the military historian,
F. Myatt, observes.® Markham notes that ‘ the troops dispersed over the amba
in search of plunder. The treasury was soon rifled ’.'® Dr. J. Bechtinger, an
Austrian who was Acting Surgeon in the British-Indian Army, states that
Migdila was ‘ volkommen gepliindert * (completely plundered).!!

A British officer, Captain H. B. Hayward, who kept a diary during the
campaign, wrote on 13 April: °The whole division then occupied Magdala
and a general loot took place ’, but he added with some foresight : ‘ not that

5 Mondon-Vidailhet, op. cit., 22, 49-50.

¢ Blane, op. cit., 209-10.

7 Markham, op. cit., 357-8.

8 H. M. Stanley, Coomassie and Magdala, London, 1874, 457 ; a photograph of the treasury
appears as No. 44 in a contemporary album of photographs of the expedition. The album is
No. 204 in the Manuscript Collection, Institute of Ethiopian Studies, Haile Sellassie I University,
Addis Ababa; No. 45 in this album is the photograph reproduced by Myatt and mentioned
on p. 15, n. 1, above.

® F. Myatt, The march to Magdala, London, 1970, 165.

10 Markham, op. cit., 359.
11 J. Bechtinger, Ost Afrika : Erinnerungen und Miscellen aus dem abessinischen Feldzuge,
Wien, 1870, 234.

This content downloaded from 213.55.104.103 on Tue, 15 Dec 2015 10:39:56 UTC
All use subject to JSTOR Terms and Conditions



http://www.jstor.org/page/info/about/policies/terms.jsp

THE LIBRARY OF EMPEROR TEWODROS II AT MAQDALA (MAGDALA) 17

it will be of much use as everything will be collected and a prize committee
formed to value all ’.12

Several observers have described the scene, as soldiers and civilians,
including Tewodros’s captives, helped themselves to what they fancied from
the Emperor’s treasury.

Waldmeier, a prisoner at Médqdila whose own remaining possessions dis-
appeared during the looting, wrote that  the soldiers, especially the Hindus,
began robbing and plundering as though they had been Theodore’s pupils . . . .
Many valuable articles were stolen from the royal treasury ’.13

Stanley, an acute observer, drew up a more detailed list : © There were also
an infinite variety of gold, and silver, and brass crosses . . . heaps of parchment
royally illuminated ; stacks of Amharic bibles ; missals, and numberless albums ;
ambrotypes and photographs of English, American, French and Italian
scenery . ... Over a space growing more and more extended, the thousand
articles were scattered in infinite bewilderment and confusion until they dotted
the whole surface of the rocky citadel, the slopes of the hill, and the entire road
to camp two miles off ! .14 Dr. Rohlfs, who accompanied the expedition as one
of the Geerman representatives, wrote that, during the withdrawal of the British
troops the surroundings of Méiqdéla were strewn with torn Amharic books, loose
leaves, and fragments, and that much must have been destroyed at that time.15

One can only speculate on the efficiency of the sentries who were stationed
at the gates to prevent plunder from being taken down to the camp, as it had
been determined that it should be all reclaimed, and eventually sold as prize for
the troops.1®

Although Captain Hayward may have been over-pessimistic about the
chances of keeping the plunder—especially of smaller objects, perhaps including
small books and scrolls—it is clear that much of it was in fact recuperated.
There was only one practicable way out of the fortress, through the northern
gate, and this was held by the provost, backed by a guard of the 33rd
Regiment. !’

D. G. Chandler, a military historian, confirms that ‘ every item of booty
that had not actually been captured in combat ‘ at point of sword or bayonet ”’
was rigorously collected by the Prize-Master for future action—to the dis-
gruntled annoyance of the soldiers ’.’® There were, nevertheless, some loop-
holes in the control system, as emerges from a letter to Lord Enfield written in

12 H. B. Hayward, ‘ Extracts from the diary of Major-General, then Captain H. B. Hayward,
during the Abyssinian expedition of 1868 °, T'he Sherwood Foresters, Nottinghamshire and Derby-
shire Regiment : 1927 Regimental Annual (Derby), [1927 ?], 300.

13 Waldmeier, op. cit., 118 ; wide also R. Acton, The Abyssinian expedition and the life and
retgn of King Theodore, London, 1868, 75 ; H. A. Stern, T'he captive missionary, London, 1869, 396.

14 Stanley, op. cit., 457-9; wvide also J. M. Flad, Zwolf Jahre in Abessinien, Leipzig, 1887,
11, 72.

15 Rohlfs, op. cit., 257.

16 Markham, op. cit., 359.

17 Myatt, op. cit., 165.

18 B. Bond (ed.), Victorian military campaigns, London, 1967, 149 ; vide also Acton, op. cit., 75.
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18 RITA PANKHURST

1872 by Lieutenant-Colonel T. W. Milward, an artillery officer who was appointed
a member of the Prize Committee involved in the collection and sale of loot ;
he states that there were some civilians attached to the army who did not
comply with the General Order of the Commander-in-Chief.1® That these were
not the only sinners is an inescapable conclusion, with which Myatt agrees,
though in his view only a few easily concealed items were smuggled through.2°

More detail about the collection of loot is provided by Milward’s diary.
14 April 1868. 1 am put on the Committee for prizes . . . it gives a great deal
of trouble . . ..
15 April 1868. We are collecting the loot, and I am much bothered with it. All
is to be brought to Dalanta and we are to have sale there.
17 April. We are burning large quantities of corn . . . which we cannot carry
away, but we are taking a good deal of other loot, for sale for the good of the
men. Being on the Committee gives me very much bother.” 21

By the early afternoon of Friday, 17 April, Midqdéla had been cleared of
its population, estimated at 30,000-50,000,22 and the last of the booty had been
removed. The sappers had proceeded to destroy the remaining guns and
mortars and, when this work had been completed, they set fire to the palace,
prison houses, and temporary huts.2® It had been decided to spare the humble
church, the outhouses of which had sheltered the great manuscript collection,
¢ lest the priests should say that the common tie of Christianity between con-
querors and conquered had been forgotten ’; 2¢ but it did not survive the
conflagration. The Daily News correspondent, in a graphic description quoted
by the Illustrated London News, reported that ‘ a pyramid of fire laid hold upon
it [the church] and licked it up, leaving the church bell alone standing ’.23

The official history of the expedition, by T. J. Holland and H. M. Hozier,
devotes only one sentence to these events : ‘ The plunder taken at Magdala was
sold by auction, and the proceeds of the sale distributed among the troops as
prize money .28

It appears that Miqdéla did not yield as many valuables as was hoped, for
Napier was able to report on 13 May : ‘ No booty was found at Magdala *.%
As the total amount to be realized was not expected to exceed £3,000 the

19 Milward to Lord Enfield, 27 November 1872, FO 1/29.

20 Myatt, op. cit., 165-6.

21 8, Chojnacki and I. Marshall (ed.), ¢ Colonel Milward’s Abyssinian journal 2 December 1867
to 13 June 1868 °, Journal of Ethiopian Studies, vi1, 1, 1969, 107-8. The original diary is in the
Institute of Ethiopian Studies, Haile Sellassie I University.

22 Jllustrated London News, 13 June 1868 ; wvide also F. Stumm, Meine Erlebnisse bei der
englischen Expedition in Abessinien, Frankfurt am Main, 1868 ; Bechtinger, op. cit., 234.

23 Jllustrated London News, 13 June 1868 ; Myatt, op. cit., 168.

24 Jllustrated London News, 30 May 1868, report of Major Leveson.

25 jbid., 23 May 1868.

26 T, J. Holland and M. H. Hozier, Record of the expedition to Abyssinia, London, 1870, 11, 78.

27 Telegram from Sir Robert Napier to Sir Stafford Northcote from Antalo, 13 May 1868.
Quoted in Illustrated London News, 30 May 1868.
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commissioned officers relinquished their share of the prize-money.2® To appre-
ciate Napier’s understatement and the officers’ action it should be noted that
earlier wars, such as the China campaigns or the Spanish wars, yielded consider-
ably more booty. Wellington, for example, received £120,000 after Waterloo.?®

Napier’s ‘no booty’ consisted of miscellaneous articles requiring 15
elephants and nearly 200 mules for the journey from the fortress to the Délanta
plain, on the northern side of the Bagilo river, where the auction took place.3°

Before the sale began, everyone was urged once again to hand over all
objects found or purchased from soldiers.3!

As soon as the sale started the ¢ gentlemen who had either a superfluity of
cash, or who leaned to antiquarian tastes ’ 32 took a lively part in the bidding.
The entries in Milward’s diary read as follows.
€20 Aprl. Halted at Dalanta. ... In the afternoon the sale of loot began,
and is realizing very large prices.

21 April. The sale going on all day, some things going fabulously high.” 33

It appears from Milward’s letter to Lord Enfield that the books were not
disposed of in the same way as the other trophies and that Lieutenant-Colonel
Dillon, Military Secretary on Napier’s personal staff, was involved in dealing
with them.34

According to Graf von Seckendorff, an officer of the Prussian army who
accompanied the expedition, the manuscripts found fewer bidders than did
some other articles because their real value was not known.3% Nevertheless
Stanley confirms that, among the 39 field officers, 60 captains, and 146 subalterns
of the British force, as well as the foreign officers and accompanying civilians,
there were a number of bidders to struggle against Mr. Holmes of the British
Museum.

¢ On the third day of our stay in our cantonement upon Dahonte Dalanta
plateau ’, Stanley writes, ‘ the articles for sale were ready for the auctioneer . . . .
Bidders were not scarce. Every officer and civilian desired some souvenir . . .
[there were] richly illuminated bibles and manuseripts . . . . Mr. Holmes, as the
worthy representative of the British Museum, was in his full glory. Armed with
ample funds, he outdid all in most things but Colonel Frazer ran him hard
because he was buying for a wealthy regimental mess ... and when anything
belonging personally to Theodore was offered for sale, there were private
gentlemen who outbid both . ...3¢ The auction lasted two days. The total

28 ibid.; G. B. von Seckendorff, Meine Erlebnisse mit dem englischen Expeditionscorps in
Abessinten 1867-1868, Potsdam, 1869, 178.

29 Von Seckendorff, op. cit., 178.

30 Stanley, op. cit., 467.

31 Stumm, op. cit., 134 ; Illustrated London News, 30 May 1868.

32 Stanley, op. cit., 467.

33 Chojnacki and Marshall, art. cit., 108.

34 Milward to Enfield, 27 November 1872, FO 1/29.

35 Von Seckendorff, op. cit., 177.

36 Stanley, op. cit., 470.
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20 RITA PANKHURST

receipts amounted to £5,000 —much more than had been anticipated by
Napier—° This sum was divided among the non-commissioned officers and men
who were southward of the Bechilo, which gave each man a trifle over four
dollars .37

The official history relates that Richard R. Holmes, F.S.A., Assistant in the
Department of Manuscripts at the British Museum, was deputed by the
Trustees of the Museum to accompany the expedition on their behalf as
archaeologist. He landed at Zula on 24 January 1868, and joined the head-
quarters at Sanafe. The fruits of his labours on the journey towards Miqdila
were disappointing. ‘In only one or two instances, however, was he able to
make any discovery of antiquarian interest. The remains of the libraries, which
to a greater or less extent were in the possession of each religious community
were found to be without exception, modern, and of small interest. No trace of
really ancient MSS could, after careful search, be discovered nor was there in
any case any relic even of ecclesiastical furniture to which an early date could
be assigned. The state of intestine warfare in which the country had for so long
a time been plunged seemed to afford a solution for this dearth of material of
historic interest.” 3¢ This was largely because it was not considered expedient
for him to deviate from the line of march, which by-passed Aksum.

Tt is therefore likely that the £1,000 inserted in the estimates ‘ to cover the
cost of excavations or collections ’ 3 was almost untouched and at Holmes’s
disposal during the auction. From Roger Acton’s account of the expedition,
it would appear that Holmes was well prepared, having earlier been given an
opportunity of examining the manuscripts, possibly in situ at Miqdala.2® It
may be deduced from von Seckendorff’s remark that the books attracted fewer
bidders, that not all the manuscripts from the Emperor’s library were disposed of
at the sale. Napier was thus saddled with the unsold portion of the ‘ tons’ of
manuscripts found at Maqdala—manuscripts which had not been selected by the
British Museum representative and had not interested the officers and gentlemen
present at the auction.

The substance of Napier’s decision was recorded by Holland and Hozier as
follows.

¢ On the capture of Magdala a large number of Ethiopian manuscripts were
found, having been carried there by Theodore from the libraries of Gondar and
the central parts of Abyssinia. ... On finding that Magdala would have to be
abandoned to the Gallas it became necessary to provide for the safety of these
volumes which would otherwise have been destroyed by the Mohammedans.
About 900 volumes were taken as far as Chelikot and there about 600 were
delivered to the priests of the church, one of the most important in
Abyssinia.” 41 (iliqot, in the province of Tigre, was some four miles from the

37 jbid., 471. 38 Holland and Hozier, op. cit., 11, 371.
39 jbid., 370. 40 Acton, op. cit., 75; wvide also Flad, op. cit., 11, 72.
41 Holland and Hozier, op. cit., 11, 396.
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line of march at Ayqulit camp. It had taken the forces of the expedition about a
month to reach this point.

William Simpson,*2 a well-known journalist and illustrator covering the
campaign on behalf of the Illustrated London News provides further details in a
posthumously published autobiography which was in fact a compilation of his
previous writings.

‘ There was a place called Chelicut, with an important church, that I wished
to see, and on the march back from Antalo to Eikullet, I went by another road
to see Chelicut on the way. An escort of two or three dragoons was sent with
me in case of accidents. A large number of books had been found in Magdala.
Sir Robert arranged to bring home a certain number of these books to place in
museums, and in the libraries of the Universities, and a few for presents. The
books were all written on parchment, and in the old Geez character. Books of
this kind are scarce in Abyssinia because they are expensive, so Sir Robert
considered that it would be unfair to bring out of the country more of them than
was necessary. As they were principally Bibles, gospels, psalters, and books
of devotion, he was giving them as we marched back, to the various churches
we passed. So a message was sent with me—it was given to an Abyssinian
servant I had picked up—to tell the priests at Chelicut to come that day to the
camp and they would receive some of the books.

That evening at Eikullet there was a terrible storm of thunder and rain. The
rain poured, and in the midst of this outburst of nature news came that the
Queen was dead.*® Messengers were sent off to Chelicut for the priests to come
and perform the funeral services, and our early march in the morning was
ordered to be postponed.’ 44

In an article published in London in 1868 which gives substantially the
same account of events, Simpson adds a further justification for this policy of
distributing the manuseripts to Ethiopian churches: ‘It was also known that
these books found in Magdala had been plundered by Theodros from the churches
of the different provinces which he had conquered, and so it was, to a certain
extent, as if we were returning them again to their rightful owners. Chelicut
being an important place, a good number of books were presented to the
church ’.45

As has been pointed out by Professor Chojnacki ¢ there is some difference

12 For a fuller description of Simpson’s travels at this time wvide S. Chojnacki, ‘ William
Simpson and his journey to Ethiopia ’, Journal of Ethiopian Studres, vi, 2, 1968, 7-38.

43 Empress Teruwirq or Terunis, second wife of Emperor Tewodros, who had declared her
wish to accompany her son, Alimayyihu, to Bombay, died at Ayqulit on 15 May 1868, of a lung
disease. The funeral ceremonies were performed the next morning and the Empress was buried at
Caliqot. They are vividly described by Simpson in continuation of the passages quoted above;
vide also Holland and Hozier, op. cit., 11, 83 ; H. M. Hozier, The British expedition to Abyssinia.
London, 1869, 258.

44 W. Simpson, The autobiography of William Simpson, R.1., ed. G. Eyre-Todd, London, 1903,
193-4.

45 idem, ‘ An artist’s jottings in Abyssinia ’, Good Words, 1 October 1868, 612.

48 Chojnacki, art. cit., 35.
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between the official account which states that ‘ about 600’ volumes were all
delivered to the priests of the church of Ciliqot and Simpson’s version of what
happened, namely that Napier was distributing manuscripts to various churches
along the route.4” Nevertheless it is clear from Simpson’s account that, although
the priests of Ciliqot were originally called to collect ¢ some of the books’
(Autobiography), © a few of the books’ (Good Words, 612), in the event they
were presented with ¢ a good number ’ (Good Words, quoted above). Graf von
Seckendorff confirms this interpretation. ‘The greater part (of the books. .. .)’,
he reports, ‘ remained in Abyssinia, as General Napier gave them to the Church
of Chelikot.’4#

The German missionary, J. M. Flad, who returned from Méqgdala with the
expedition, offers yet another version of the disposal of these manuscripts.
According to him all books not taken by the British Museum were handed over
to Déjazmac Kassa of Tigre for distribution to the churches.4® This story is not
corroborated from any other source ; however, (iliqot and the other churches
on this part of the route were situated in territory ruled by Kassa. The deposit of
the manuscripts must have had his approval and may well have been intended to
please the possible future ruler of Ethiopia, who had performed friendly services
for the expedition. A more significant reward from the British Government was
to follow a few weeks later when Kassa was presented with half a dozen mortars
and as many howitzers, with 200 rounds for each piece, together with 850
muskets, 350,000 rounds of small-arms ammunition, and 28 barrels of gun-
powder. >0

The present writer visited the Ciliqot Sellase church on 16 May 1970, with
a list of 158 manuscripts which had been registered as the holdings of the church
shortly after the Italo-Ethiopian War. The priests produced 47 volumes for
inspection stating that all in their possession had been shown, with the exception
of four volumes which had been sent to Miggle, for repair.

Of the volumes seen at (éliqot, only one could be clearly identified as having
been in the Méqdila collection : it was a Somd Degwa ¢ Hymns for Lent ’, which
had belonged to one of the Gondarine kings, Emperor Bikaffa (1721-30). A
second beautifully illustrated manuscript, a T'd@’ameri Sellase  Miracles of the
Trinity °, depicting scenes from the life of Iyasu I, ‘ the Great’, of Gondar
(1681-1706) may have reached Ciliqot by the same route ; this also applies to
one of the Ciliqot manuscripts seen at Migile, a Qdlementos (Clement, disciple
of Peter). It, too, had belonged to Emperor Iyasu I. Most of the other volumes
seen at (iliqot were either given by other named donors, especially Ras Wilds
Sellase, or were clearly of recent origin.

47 This account of the disposal of the manuscripts in Ethiopia is repeated by W. Wright in
his Catalogue of the Ethiopic manuscripts in the British Museum acquired since 1847, London, 1877,
p. iii.

48 Von Seckendorff, op. cit., 177.

49 Flad, op. cit., 11, 72.

50 Holland and Hozier, op. cit., 11, 96.
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Some of the more aged and learned priests had also heard it said that books
from Miqdéla had been deposited with the priests of their church at the time
of the British expedition and they pointed out a grave believed to be that of
Tewodros’s second wife whose name they had forgotten. However, Milaké
Meherit Yared Germay, Co-Aliqa of Ciliqot, told Mr. Roger Cowley in October
1971 that ‘ some books from Méqdéla’ had been given to the church by
Tewodros’s wife.

The priests offered the writer alternative and somewhat implausible
explanations for the virtual disappearance of the Mdqdédla manuscripts.

The first was that, whilst carrying the books from Napier’s camp to the
church, the priests were waylaid by robbers who stole them all ; and second,
that the books were taken away by the Italians. The latter explanation was
rejected by Mirigeta Lesand Wiarq Gabri Giyorgis, keeper of the Méqéle palace
museum, who stated that the Italians did not take any books from Céliqot.
He had been told that in Miskirdm 1876 EC (September-October 1883)
Emperor Yohannes IV had founded seven churches in and around Migile.
Knowing that there were some 500 manuscripts at Céliqot the Emperor had
ordered that about 100 should be transferred to the newly endowed churches.
It has not, unfortunately, been possible so far to follow up this clue.?

The official record of the expedition continues, after the account of the gift
to the priests of Ciliqot church: 359 books were retained for the purpose of
scientific examination in the hope that some light might be thrown by them,
through the labours of the learned men of Europe, on the ancient history of
Ethiopia and on the records of Christianity ’.52 How these books came to be
‘ retained ’ has been shown earlier. The books had been selected by Holmes with
advice from Werner Munzinger, a Swiss national who had been appointed
British Consul at Massawa. Munzinger was an accomplished scholar ; he knew
Tigre very well. He examined each manuscript and, as Holland and Hozier
state, wrote the title inside every volume.?3

The subsequent fate of these manuscripts is recorded by William Wright,
who was Assistant Keeper at the British Museum 1862-70, in the preface to his
Catalogue of the Ethiopic manuscripts in the British Musewm published in 1877,
which was largely a catalogue of the Méqdila collection : ¢ On 28 August 1868
the bulk of the Magdala Collection was handed over to the Trustees of the
British Museum by the Secretary of State for India. Some volumes [the 16
mentioned in his report] were sent to the Royal Library at Windsor of which
Her Majesty [Queen Victoria] was graciously pleased to present ten . . . to the
British Museum on 21 January 1869. The entire Magdala Collection consists,

51 The churches mentioned were: Agula’e Kidand Meherit, Arra Mika’el, Tégogwa Johannes,
Milfa Maryam, Qéqima Maryam, Ceh Kidans Meherit, Migqile Kidand Meherdt. According to
our informant there is now only one manuscript left at Agula’e, but in all the other churches
except the one in Maqéle, which was burned down by the Italians, there are still * good books ’.

52 Holland and Hozier, op. cit., 11, 396-7.

53 ibid., 397.
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therefore, of 350 volumes’. The difference between this figure and the 359
manuseripts originally deposited at the British Museum is made up of the six
volumes retained by the Queen plus three acquired by Mr. Holmes on the way
to Méqdéla.>* The figure of 350 volumes quoted by Wright includes one volume
which had been returned to Ethiopia in 1872, a Kebrd ndigdst whose adventures
are recounted later in this paper. The British Museum owned only 349 volumes
of the Miqdala collection at the time the preface was written.

Since the publication of Wright’s Catalogue other Ethiopian manuscripts
have been acquired by the British Museum. The catalogue of these, by Stefan
Strelcyn, is in the press. Professor Streleyn has kindly supplied the writer with
the information that three manuscripts, probably all three from the eighteenth
century, were inscribed as having belonged to the Méddhane Alim church. These
were : Or. 13264, Pauline Epistles, etc. ; Or. 8824, ¢ Miracles of Jesus Christ ’,
and Or. 13309, Arke, a collection of salutations for commemorations according to
the months of the year.55

Of the volumes which were not acquired by the Museum six, as was noted
above, were retained at Windsor Castle. They are exceptionally fine specimens
of Ethiopian manuscript art and were all the property of the Madhane Alim
church at Méqdéla. The catalogue of these manuscripts, by Edward Ullendorft,
was published in the Rassegna di Studi Etiopici.®®

The University Libraries at Oxford and Cambridge had acquired other
Méqdala manuseripts. In his Catalogue of Ethiopian manuscripts in the
Bodleian Library, Ullendorff writes : ‘ On the whole, it is safe to assume that
the majority of the [66] MSS here described, were acquired in Ethiopia by
individual members of Napier’s expedition in 1867-8. Aft